# STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION APRIL 30, 2010

# UTC NORTH AMERICAN FUND, INC.

UTC North American Fund – (Ticker Symbol: UTCNX)

This Statement of Additional Information is not a prospectus and should be read in conjunction with the prospectus of the UTC North American Fund dated April 30, 2010. Requests for copies of the prospectus should be made in writing or by calling the below address or telephone number.

The financial statements are incorporated by reference from the Annual Report dated December 31, 2009 (File Nos. 33-37426 and 811-06194), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on March 9, 2010. Shareholders may obtain a copy of the Annual Report, without charge, by calling 1-800-368-3322.

UTC NORTH AMERICAN FUND c/o U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC 615 E. Michigan Street, Third Floor Milwaukee, WI 53202 1-800-368-3322

# UTC NORTH AMERICAN FUND

# **Table of Contents**

	Page No.
GENERAL INFORMATION AND HISTORY	3
INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS	4
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS	4
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS	12
OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT	17
CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES	19
FUND MANAGER AND ADMINISTRATOR	19
CODE OF ETHICS	22
PROXY VOTING POLICY	22
DISTRIBUTOR, DISTRIBUTION PLAN AND SERVICE FEES	23
SHAREHOLDER SERVICING FEE	23
DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE	24
PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES	25
PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS AND BROKERAGE	25
DIVIDENDS, DISTRIBUTIONS AND TAXES	26
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING PROGRAM	27
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	28
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	28
APPENDIX DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS	29

#### GENERAL INFORMATION AND HISTORY

On January 1, 2009, The Chaconia Income & Growth Fund, Inc. changed its name to UTC North American Fund, Inc. UTC North American Fund, Inc. (the "Company" or "Fund") is an open-end, diversified, management investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the "1940 Act"). The Company is a Maryland corporation, incorporated on October 24, 1990. The Company currently consists of two series: UTC North American Fund (formerly known as the Chaconia Income & Growth Fund) (the "Fund") and the Chaconia ACS Fund. (The Chaconia ACS Fund has not yet commenced operations.)

## Description of Shares, Voting Rights and Liabilities

The Company's capital stock consists of a single class of common stock, which is divisible into an unlimited number of series or classes. Each Fund of the Company represents a separate series of common stock. The authorized capital stock consists of 10,000,000 shares of common stock, of which 8,000,000 are allocated to the Fund and 2,000,000 are allocated to the Chaconia ACS Fund. The Company's Board of Directors is authorized to divide the unissued shares into one or more additional classes of common stock (which may be referred to as portfolios, funds or series), each class representing a separate, additional Company portfolio, and to fix the number of shares in any such class or series.

Shares of all classes will have identical voting rights, except where by law, certain matters must be approved by a majority of the shares of the affected class. Each share of any class of shares when issued has equal dividend, liquidation and voting rights within the class for which it was issued and each fractional share has those rights in proportion to the percentage that the fractional share represents of a whole share. Shares will be voted in the aggregate.

There are no conversion or preemptive rights in connection with any shares of the Fund. All shares, when issued in accordance with the terms of the offering, will be fully paid and nonassessable. Shares will be redeemed at net asset value, at the option of the shareholder.

The shares have noncumulative voting rights which means that the holders of more than 50% of the shares can elect 100% of the directors if the holders choose to do so, and, in that event, the holders of the remaining shares will not be able to elect any person or persons to the Board of Directors. The Company does not usually issue certificates evidencing the Fund's shares.

The Company is not required to hold annual meetings of shareholders. Special meetings of shareholders will be held for the consideration of proposals requiring shareholder approval by law, such as changing fundamental policies or upon the written request of 25% of the Company's outstanding shares. The directors will promptly call a meeting of shareholders to consider the removal of a director or directors when requested to do so by the holders of not less than 10% of the outstanding shares and that shareholders will receive communication assistance in connection with calling such a meeting. At any meeting of shareholders duly called and at which a quorum is present, the shareholders may, by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast thereon, remove any director or directors from office, with or without cause, and may elect a successor or successors to fill any resulting vacancies for the unexpired term of the removed director.

#### **Shareholder Approval**

Other than the election of directors, which is by plurality, any matter for which shareholder approval is required by (1) the Maryland General Corporation Law, requires the affirmative

vote of at least a majority of all votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is present and (2) the 1940 Act, requires the affirmative vote of at least a "majority" (as defined by the 1940 Act) of the outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote at a meeting called for the purpose of considering such approval.

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, the presence in person or by proxy of the holders of one-third of the outstanding voting securities entitled to vote at a meeting of shareholders shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business at all meetings of the shareholders except as otherwise provided by law or in the Articles of Incorporation. The 1940 Act defines a majority as the lesser of (1) 67% of the shares represented at a meeting at which more than 50% of the outstanding shares are present in person or by proxy or (2) more than 50% of the outstanding shares.

## INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

The Fund has adopted the following investment restrictions, which are matters of fundamental policy. The Fund's fundamental investment policies cannot be changed without approval of the holders of the lesser of: (i) 67% of the Fund's shares present or represented at a shareholders' meeting at which the holders of more than 50% of such shares are present or represented; or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund.

# The Fund may not:

- 1. Issue senior securities, except as permitted under the Investment Company Act, as amended, and as interpreted or modified by regulatory authority having jurisdiction, from time to time; and borrow money, except as permitted under the Investment Company Act, as amended, and as interpreted or modified by regulatory authority having jurisdiction, from time to time. (The Investment Company Act currently permits the Fund to issue senior securities so long as it maintains continuous asset coverage of at least 300% of the aggregate value of all of the Fund's senior securities transactions, and it permits the Fund to borrow money so long as it maintains continuous asset coverage of at least 300% of all amounts borrowed.)
- 2. Purchase or sell commodities, except as permitted by the Investment Company Act, as amended, and as interpreted or modified by the regulatory authority having jurisdiction, from time to time.
- 3. The Fund may not make loans except as permitted under the Investment Company Act, as amended, and as interpreted or modified by regulatory authority having jurisdiction, from time to time.
- 4. Act as underwriter, except to the extent the Fund may be deemed to be an underwriter in connection with the sale of securities in its investment portfolios.
- 5. Invest 25% or more of its total assets at the time of purchase in any securities of issuers in one industry. U.S. Government securities are excluded from this restriction.

The Fund observes the following restrictions as a matter of operating policy but not fundamental policy, pursuant to positions taken by federal and state regulatory authorities:

# The Fund may not:

- 1. The Fund will not purchase securities on margin. However, the Fund may obtain such short-term credits as may be necessary for the clearance of transactions and may make margin payments in connection with transactions in futures and options and other derivative instruments, and the Fund may borrow money to the extent and in the manner permitted by the Investment Company Act, as provided in fundamental investment restriction No. 1 above.
- 2. The Fund will not sell securities short or write put and call options, except that the Fund may purchase and sell derivative instruments as described in this SAI.
- 3. Pledge, mortgage, hypothecate or otherwise encumber any of its assets, except to secure permitted borrowing and then in amounts not greater than the lesser of the dollar amounts borrowed or 33 1/3% of the value of the Fund's total assets at the time of such borrowing.
- 4. The Fund will not make investments for the purpose of exercising control or management of any company.
- 5. Hold more than 15% of its net assets in illiquid securities. If the value of the Fund's illiquid securities exceeds 15% of the value of the net assets of the Fund, the excess must be sold as soon as practicable.
- 6. Purchase any security if as a result the Fund would then hold more than 10% of any class of securities of an issuer (taking all common stock issues as a single class, all preferred stock issues as a single class, and all debt issues as a single class) or more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of an issuer.
- 7. Invest in securities of any issuer if, to the knowledge of the Fund, any officer or director of the Fund or its investment manager owns more than 1/2 of 1% of the outstanding securities of such issuer, and such directors who own more than 1/2 of 1% own in the aggregate more than 5% of the outstanding securities of such issuer.
- 8. Invest more than 5% of the value of its net assets in warrants (included, in that amount, but not to exceed 2% of the value of the Fund's net assets, may be warrants which are not listed on the New York or American Stock Exchange).
- 9. Invest in any security if as a result the Fund would have more than 5% of its total assets invested in securities of companies that together with any predecessor have been in continuous operation for fewer than three years.
- 10. Invest in real estate, real estate limited partnerships, or oil, gas and other mineral leases.

As a general rule, the percentage limitation referred to in these restrictions apply only at the time of investment other than with respect to the Fund's borrowing of money. A later increase or decrease in a percentage that results from a change in value in the portfolio securities held by the Fund will not be considered a violation of such limitation, and the Fund will not necessarily have to sell a portfolio security or adjust its holdings in order to comply.

#### **INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS**

The Fund is an open-end, diversified investment company. As a diversified investment company, the Fund will not violate any of the above investment restrictions and will meet the requirement that: (a) as to 75% of its total assets, it will not invest more than 5% of its total assets in the securities of any one issuer, and (b) it will not invest more than 25% of its total assets in any one industry. As detailed in the Prospectus, the Fund's investment objective is to produce high current income and capital appreciation. The Fund's investment objectives are fundamental objectives and therefore may not be changed without the approval of shareholders.

The following paragraphs provide a more detailed description of the investment policies and risks of the Fund than identified in the Fund's Prospectus. Unless otherwise noted, the policies described in this SAI are not fundamental and may be changed by the Company's Board of Directors.

## **Common and Preferred Stock**

Common stocks are units of ownership of a corporation. Preferred stocks are stocks that often pay dividends at a specific rate and have a preference over common stocks in dividend payments and liquidation of assets. Some preferred stocks may be convertible into common stock. Convertible securities are securities that may be converted into or exchanged for a specified amount of common stock of the same or different issuer within a particular period of time at a specified price or formula.

# **Foreign Equities**

The Fund's investments in the securities of foreign issuers may include both securities of foreign corporations and securities of foreign governments and their political subdivisions.

The Fund may invest in foreign securities directly, or through American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs") or other forms of depositary receipts, such as Global Depositary Receipts and European Depositary Receipts. Depositary receipts are typically issued by a U.S. or foreign bank or trust company and evidence ownership of underlying securities issued by a foreign corporation. Investments in these types of securities, as well as securities of issuers that have significant operations or assets outside of the U.S., involve certain inherent risks generally associated with investments in foreign securities, including the following:

Political and Economic Factors. Individual foreign economies of certain countries may differ favorably or unfavorably from the United States economy in such respects as growth of gross national product, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency, diversification and balance of payments position. The internal politics of certain foreign countries may not be as stable as that of the United States. Governments in certain foreign countries also continue to participate to a significant degree, through ownership interest or regulation, in their respective economies. Action by these governments could include restrictions on foreign investment, nationalization, expropriation of goods or imposition of taxes, and could have a significant effect on market prices of securities and payment of interest. The economies of many foreign countries are heavily dependent upon international trade and are accordingly affected by the trade policies and economic conditions of their trading partners. Enactment by these trading partners of protectionist trade legislation, or economic recessions or slow downs of those partners, could have a significant adverse effect upon the securities markets of such countries.

Currency Fluctuations. A change in the value of any foreign currency against the U.S. dollar will result in a corresponding change in the U.S. dollar value of securities held by the Fund,

denominated in that currency. Such changes will also affect the Fund to the extent it is invested in ADRs comprised of foreign securities.

Taxes. The interest and dividends payable on certain foreign securities, including those comprising an ADR, may be subject to foreign withholding taxes, thus reducing the net amount of income to be paid to the Fund and that may ultimately be available for distribution to the Fund's shareholders.

# Securities Subject to Reorganization

The Fund may invest in both debt and equity securities for which a tender or exchange offer has been made or announced and in securities of companies for which a merger, consolidation, liquidation or reorganization proposal has been announced if, in the judgment of the Fund's manager, there is a reasonable prospect of capital appreciation significantly greater than the brokerage and other transaction expenses involved. Since such investments are ordinarily short-term in nature, they will tend to increase the turnover ratio of the Fund, thereby increasing its brokerage and other transaction expenses.

## **Debt Securities**

The Fund may invest in debt securities, including those convertible into common stocks. Debt purchased by the Fund, will consist of obligations of medium-grade or higher, having at least adequate capacity to pay interest and repay principal. Non-convertible debt obligations will be rated BBB or higher by S&P, or Baa or higher by Moody's. Convertible debt obligations will be rated B or higher by S&P or B or higher by Moody's. Securities rated Baa by Moody's are considered by Moody's to be medium-grade securities and have adequate capacity to pay principal and interest. Bonds in the lowest investment grade category (BBB) have speculative characteristics, with changes in the economy or other circumstances more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the bonds to make principal and interest payments than would occur with bonds rated in higher categories. Securities rated B are referred to as "high-risk" securities, generally lack characteristics of a desirable investment, and are deemed speculative with respect to the issuer's capacity to pay interest and repay principal over a long period of time. See "Appendix" to this Statement of Additional Information for a description of debt security ratings.

Debt Securities Ratings. The ratings of Standard & Poor's, Moody's and other nationally recognized rating agencies represent their opinions as to the quality of debt securities. It should be emphasized, however, that ratings are general and are not absolute standards of quality, and debt securities with the same maturity, interest rate and rating may have different yields while debt securities of the same maturity and interest rate with different ratings may have the same yield.

The payment of principal and interest on most debt securities purchased by the Fund will depend upon the ability of the issuers to meet their obligations. An issuer's obligations under its debt securities are subject to the provisions of bankruptcy, insolvency, and other laws affecting the rights and remedies of creditors, such as the Federal Bankruptcy Code, and laws, if any, which may be enacted by federal or state legislatures extending the time for payment of principal or interest, or both, or imposing other constraints upon enforcement of such obligations. The power or ability of an issuer to meet its obligations for the payment of interest on, and principal of, its debt securities may be materially adversely affected by litigation or other conditions.

Subsequent to its purchase by the Fund, a rated security may cease to be rated or its rating may be reduced below the minimum rating required for purchase by the Fund. The managers will consider such an event in determining whether the Fund involved should continue to hold the security. For a more detailed description of ratings, see the Appendix.

## **Warrants and Rights**

The Fund may invest up to 5% of its net assets in warrants or rights (other than those acquired in units or attached to other securities) which entitle the holder to buy equity securities at a specific price during or at the end of a specific period of time. The Fund will not invest more than 2% of its total assets in warrants or rights that are not listed on the New York or American Stock Exchange. For purposes of this investment policy, a warrant is defined as a certificate giving the holder the right to purchase securities at a stipulated price within a specific time limit or perpetually. Sometimes a warrant is offered with securities as an inducement to buy. The prices of warrants do not necessarily correlate with the prices of the underlying securities.

# When Issued, Delayed Delivery Securities and Forward Commitments

The Fund may enter into forward commitments for the purchase or sale of securities, including on a "when issued" or "delayed delivery" basis in excess of customary settlement periods for the type of security involved. In some cases, a forward commitment may be conditioned upon the occurrence of a subsequent event, such as approval and consummation of a merger, corporate reorganization or debt restructuring, i.e., a when, as and if issued security. When such transactions are negotiated, the price is fixed at the time of the commitment, with payment and delivery taking place in the future, generally a month or more after the date of the commitment. While the Fund will only enter into a forward commitment with the intention of actually acquiring the security, the Fund may sell the security before the settlement date if it is deemed advisable.

# **Borrowing**

The Fund may not borrow money except as permitted by the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the "1940 Act"). Under the 1940 Act, a fund may borrow money from a bank for any purpose up to 33 1/3 % of its total assets. To limit the risks attendant to borrowing, the Fund is required under the 1940 Act to maintain at all times an asset coverage of 300% of the amount of its borrowings. To the extent the Fund borrows money, positive or negative performance by the Fund's investments may be magnified. Any gain in the value of securities purchased with borrowed money that exceeds the interest paid on the amount borrowed would cause the net asset value of the Fund's shares to increase more rapidly than otherwise would be the case. Conversely, any decline in the value of securities purchased would cause the net asset value of the Fund's shares to decrease more rapidly than otherwise would be the case. Borrowed money thus creates an opportunity for greater capital gain but at the same time increases exposure to capital risk. The net cost of any borrowed money would be an expense that otherwise would not be incurred, and this expense could offset or eliminate the Fund's net investment income in any given period.

The Fund may mortgage, pledge or hypothecate assets to secure such borrowings. Pledging or otherwise encumbering Fund assets entails certain risks. For instance, the Fund could incur costs or encounter delays in recovering the assets pledged or, in the event of the insolvency of the pledgee, the Fund might not be able to recover some or all of the pledged assets.

#### **Loans of Portfolio Securities**

To increase income, the Fund may lend its portfolio securities to securities broker-dealers or financial institutions if (1) the loan is collateralized in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements, (2) the loan is subject to termination by the Fund at any time, (3) the Fund receives reasonable interest or fee payments on the loan, (4) the Fund is able to exercise all voting rights with

respect to the loaned securities and (5) the loan will not cause the value of all loaned securities to exceed 33% of the value of the Fund's assets.

# **U.S. Government Securities**

The U.S. Government securities in which the Fund may invest include direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury, such as Treasury bills, notes and bonds, and obligations issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government agencies and instrumentalities, including securities that are supported by the full faith and credit of the United States, such as Government National Mortgage Association ("GNMA") certificates, securities that are supported by the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Treasury, such as securities of the Federal Home Loan Banks, and securities supported solely by the creditworthiness of the issuer, such as Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA") and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC") securities.

The Fund may invest in mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by GNMA, FNMA or FHLMC and representing undivided ownership interests in pools of mortgages. The mortgages backing these securities include, among others, conventional 30-year fixed-rate mortgages, 15-year fixedrate mortgages, graduated payment mortgages and adjustable rate mortgages. The U.S. Government or the issuing agency guarantees the payment of the interest on and principal of these securities. The guarantees do not extend to the securities' yield or value, however, which are likely to vary inversely with fluctuations in interest rates, and, the guarantees do not extend to the yield or value of the Fund's shares. These securities are in most cases "pass-through" instruments, through which the holders receive a share of all interest and principal payments from the mortgages underlying the securities, net of certain fees. The principal amounts of such underlying mortgages generally may be prepaid in whole or in part by the mortgagees at any time without penalty and the prepayment characteristics of the underlying mortgages may vary. During periods of declining interest rates, prepayment of mortgages underlying mortgagebacked securities can be expected to accelerate. When the mortgage obligations are prepaid, the Fund will reinvest the prepaid amounts in other income producing securities, the yields of which will reflect interest rates prevailing at the time. Accelerated prepayments adversely affect yields for pass-through securities purchased at a premium and may involve additional risk of loss of principal because the premium may not have been fully amortized at the time the obligation is repaid. The opposite is true for pass-through securities purchased at a discount.

# **Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation**

The Unit Trust Corporation was created by the Unit Trust Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago Act, 1981 (Republic of Trinidad and Tobago Act No. 26 of 1981). The Unit Trust Corporation's main office is located in the City of Port-of-Spain, Trinidad. The Unit Trust Corporation is an entity whose purpose is to provide financial services such as investment vehicles, merchant banking, credit cards, and foreign exchange services to the citizens of Trinidad and Tobago. The affairs of the Unit Trust Corporation are managed by a separate and distinct board of directors.

The Schemes of the Unit Trust Corporation are investment companies as defined under the 1940 Act managed by the Unit Trust Corporation. The assets of the Schemes of the Unit Trust Corporation are predominantly invested in equity securities of Trinidad and Tobago corporations, and in fixed income securities of those corporations, as well as in Trinidad and Tobago government securities. The financial records of the Unit Trust Corporation are examined and audited by the Auditor General of Trinidad and Tobago. The financial statements and records of the Unit Trust Corporation are prepared in accordance with the Trinidad and Tobago Accounting Standards and are reported in Trinidad and Tobago dollars.

The 1940 Act limits the extent to which the Fund may purchase equity securities of the Schemes of the Unit Trust Corporation or any other investment companies. No more than 10% of the Fund's total assets may be used to purchase any securities of investment companies. The Fund will not purchase more than 3% of the total outstanding voting stock of an investment company nor purchase securities of an investment company having an aggregate value in excess of 5% of the value of the total assets of the Fund. As of December 31, 2009, the Fund had no investments in the Unit Trust Corporation.

## **Temporary Investments**

Under normal market conditions, the Fund may have money received from the purchase of Fund shares, or money received on the sale of other portfolio securities for which suitable investments consistent with the Fund's investment objectives are not immediately available. In that case, the Fund may have such monies invested in cash or cash equivalents. In addition, the Fund is permitted, but does not normally intend to maintain all or a portion of its assets in cash or cash equivalents for temporary defensive purposes during abnormal market conditions. To earn income on this portion of their assets, the Fund may invest in "money market instruments," a term that includes, among other things, U.S. government obligations, cash, bank obligations, commercial paper, variable amount master demand notes and corporate bonds with remaining maturities of thirteen months or less. These investments are also used to help meet anticipated redemption requests or if other suitable securities are unavailable. The Fund may reduce its holdings in equity and other securities and may invest in certain short-term (less than twelve months to maturity) and medium-term (not greater than five years to maturity) debt securities and in cash (U.S. dollars, foreign currencies, or multicurrency units) for temporary defensive purposes, during periods in which the managers believe changes in economic, financial or political conditions make it advisable.

Bank obligations include bankers' acceptances, negotiable certificates of deposit and non-negotiable time deposits, including U.S. dollar-denominated instruments issued or supported by the credit of U.S. or foreign banks or savings institutions. Investments in money market obligations of foreign banks or foreign branches of U.S. banks entail risks that are different from those of investments in domestic obligations of U.S. banks due to differences in political, regulatory and economic systems and conditions. Investments by the Fund in the obligations of foreign banks and foreign branches of U.S. banks will not exceed 10% of the Fund's total assets at the time of purchase. The Fund may also make interest-bearing savings deposits in commercial and savings banks in amounts not in excess of 10% of its net assets.

Investments by the Fund in commercial paper will consist of issues rated at the time A-1 and/or P-1 by Standard & Poor's, Moody's or similar rating by another nationally recognized rating agency. In addition, the Fund may acquire unrated commercial paper and corporate bonds that are determined by the managers at the time of purchase to be of comparable quality to rated instruments that may be acquired by the Fund as previously described.

The Fund may also purchase variable amount master demand notes which are unsecured instruments that permit the indebtedness thereunder to vary and provide for periodic adjustments in the interest rate. Although the notes are not normally traded and there may be no secondary market in the notes, the Fund may demand payment of the principal of the instrument at any time. The notes are not typically rated by credit rating agencies, but issuers of variable amount master demand notes must satisfy the same criteria as set forth above for issuers of commercial paper. If an issuer of a variable amount master demand note defaulted on its payment obligation, the Fund might be unable to dispose of the note because of the absence of a secondary market and might, for this or other reasons, suffer a loss to the extent of the default. The Fund invests in variable amount master demand notes only when the manager deems the investment to involve minimal credit risk.

## **Portfolio Turnover**

Portfolio securities may be sold without regard to the length of time they have been held when, in the opinion of the Manager, investment considerations warrant such action. Portfolio turnover rate is calculated by dividing (1) the lesser of purchases or sales of portfolio securities for the fiscal year by (2) the monthly average of the value of portfolio securities owned during the fiscal year. A 100% turnover rate would occur if all the securities in the Portfolio, with the exception of securities whose maturities at the time of acquisition were one year or less, were sold and either repurchased or replaced within one year. A high rate of portfolio turnover (100% or more) generally leads to higher transaction costs and may result in a greater number of taxable transactions. The portfolio turnover rates for the fiscal years 2008 and 2009 were as follows:

	2008	2009
Portfolio Turnover Rate	19.95%	33.49%

## **Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings**

The Fund maintains written policies and procedures regarding the disclosure of its portfolio holdings to ensure that disclosure of information about portfolio securities is in the best interests of the Fund's shareholders. The Fund is required by the Securities and Exchange Commission to file its complete portfolio holdings schedule with the Commission on a quarterly basis. This schedule is filed with the Fund's annual and semi-annual reports on Form N-CSR for the second and fourth fiscal quarters and on Form N-Q for the first and third quarters. The portfolio holdings information provided in these reports is as of the end of the quarter in question. Form N-CSR must be filed with the SEC no later than ten (10) calendar days after the Fund transmits its annual or semi-annual report to its shareholders. Form N-Q must be filed with the SEC no later than sixty (60) calendar days after the end of the applicable quarter.

The Fund's service providers which have contracted to provide services to the Fund, including, for example, the Fund's custodian, the Fund's servicing accountant and the Fund's administrator, and which require portfolio holdings information in order to perform those services may receive Fund holdings information prior to and more frequently than the public disclosure of such information ("non-standard disclosure"). Non-standard disclosure of portfolio holdings information may also be provided to entities that provide a service to the Fund's investment adviser, provided that the service is related to the investment advisory services that the adviser provides to the Fund, and to a third-party when the Fund has a legitimate business purpose for doing so. Specifically, the Fund's disclosure of its portfolio holdings may include disclosure:

- to the Fund's auditors for use in providing audit opinions;
- to financial printers for the purpose of preparing Fund regulatory filings;
- for the purpose of due diligence regarding a merger or acquisition;
- to rating agencies for use in developing a rating for the Fund;
- to service providers, such as proxy voting services providers and portfolio-management database providers in connection with their providing services benefiting the Fund; and
- for purposes of effecting in-kind redemptions of securities to facilitate orderly redemption of portfolio assets and minimal impact on remaining Fund shareholders.

Other than the non-standard disclosure discussed above, if a third-party requests specific, current information regarding the Fund's portfolio holdings, the Fund will refer the third-party to the latest regulatory filing.

Non-standard disclosure of portfolio holdings may only be made pursuant to a written agreement with a service provider of the Fund that has been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, or pursuant to a written request for non-standard disclosure. The President and any Vice President, acting separately or together, may approve a written request for non-standard disclosure, provided that they promptly report any such approval to the Board of Directors of the Company.

It is the Fund's policy that neither the Fund, the Manager nor any other party shall accept any compensation or other consideration in connection with the disclosure of information about portfolio securities.

#### **DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS**

The overall management of the business and affairs of the Company is vested with its Board of Directors. The Board of Directors approves all significant agreements between the Fund and persons or companies furnishing services to it. The day-to-day operations of the Company are delegated to its officers, subject to the investment objectives and policies of the Company and to general supervision by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors is presently comprised of five members, three of whom reside outside the United States. Directors Gayle Daniel-Worrell, Lucille Mair and Melania Haynes are residents of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago.

The Maryland General Corporation Law subjects all directors and officers of the Company to fiduciary duties for the lawful management of the Company's organization and operation, including federal and state securities laws. Investors in the Fund may not be able to effect service of process within the United States upon the Company's nonresident directors and officers for the enforcement of civil liabilities under federal and state securities laws. The Company has appointed an agent for service of process in the states where the Company has registered its securities for offer and sale.

The United States and the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago are not parties to a convention governing the mutual recognition and enforcement of foreign money judgments. Investors in the Fund may not be able to enforce a United States or Trinidad and Tobago court judgment against nonresident directors and officers of the Corporation.

The names of each director and officer of the Company, their business addresses, positions held with registrant, length of term served, principal occupations during the past five years and other directorships held by each director are listed on the table below.

Name, Address and Age Non-Interested	Position(s) Held With Fund	Term of Office And Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Last Five Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by Director	Other Directorships Held by Director
Persons Jean P. Alexander Age: 51 Unit Trust Corporation, 82 Independence Square, Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	Independent Director	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since December 2008	Executive Director, Caribbean American Centre of New York, a nonprofit organization serving NYC residents	1	None
Melania Haynes Age: 64 Unit Trust Corporation, 82 Independence Square, Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	Independent Director	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since December 2008	Events Coordinator, Independent	1	None
Lucille Mair Age: 66 Unit Trust Corporation, 82 Independence Square, Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	Independent Director	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since December 2008	Partner, law firm of Mair and Company	1	None
Ajatta Mediratta Age: 44 Unit Trust Corporation, 82 Independence Square, Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	Independent Director	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since December 2008	Senior Managing Director at Greylock Capital, a hedge fund, 7-08 to present; investment banker at Bear Stearns to 6-08	1	None

Name, Address and Age	Position(s) Held With Registrant	Term of Office And Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Last Five Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by Director	Other Directorships Held by Director
<b>Interested Persons</b>					
Gayle Daniel-Worrell* Age: 49 Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation 82 Independence Square Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	Secretary and Interested Director	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since 2002	Vice President, Marketing & International Business, Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation, 6-04 to present; Marketing Manager, Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation, 11- 94 to 6-04	1	UTC Financial Services, USA, Inc. and UTC Fund Services, Inc.
Amoy Van Lowe* Age: 41 c/o Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation 82 Independence Square Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	President and Chief Executive Officer	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since December 2010	Chief Marketing Officer - Marketing & International Business, Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation, 6-07 to present; VP Marketing Ag., Telecommunications Services of Trinidad and Tobago (TSTT), 10-06 to 5-07; Head of Marketing Communications, TSTT, 1-06 to 10-06; Manager, Marketing, ANSA Merchant Bank Limited & TATIL, 6-05 to 1-06	N/A	UTC Financial Services USA, Inc; UTC Fund Services, Inc.

Name, Address and Age	Position(s) Held With Registrant	Term of Office And Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Last Five Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by Director	Other Directorships Held by Director
Michelle Persad* Age: 41 c/o Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation 82 Independence Square Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since December 2008	Vice President, Treasury, Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation, 7-07 to present; Portfolio Manager, Caribbean Court of Justice Trust Fund, 11-04 to 6- 07; Various positions in Treasury and Investments at Republic Bank Limited, 7-93 to 10-04	N/A	UTC Financial Services USA, Inc; UTC Fund Services, Inc.
Laura Alleyne Age: 43 c/o Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation 82 Independence Square Port-of-Spain, Trinidad & Tobago, West Indies	Chief Compliance Officer	Indefinite, until successor elected; Since February 2009	Chief Compliance Officer, UTC Fund Services, Inc., 3-09 to present; Marketing Officer, 12-06 to 2-09; Assistant Branch Manager, 2004 to 12-06; Supervisor, 1998- 2004	N/A	None

<sup>\*</sup> This person is an "interested person" of the Company as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act of 1940. This person is an officer of the Fund, the Fund's investment adviser, and/or the Fund's distributor, UTC Financial Services USA, Inc.

## **Qualification of Directors**

The role of an effective director inherently requires certain personal qualities, such as integrity, as well as the ability to comprehend, discuss and critically analyze materials and issues that are presented so that the director may exercise judgment and reach conclusions in fulfilling his or her duties and fiduciary obligations. The Company believes that the specific background of each director evidences those abilities and is appropriate to his or her serving on the Company's Board of Directors. Each director is an experienced businessperson, is familiar with financial statements, and takes a conservative and thoughtful approach to addressing issues facing the Fund. Further information about each director is set forth in the table above describing the business activities of each director during the past five years. This combination of skills and attributes led to the conclusion that each of the directors should serve as a director.

## **Board Leadership Structure**

The Board of Directors has general oversight responsibility with respect to the operation of the Company and the Fund. The Board has engaged the Fund's investment adviser to manage the Fund and is responsible for overseeing the adviser and other service providers to the Company and the Fund in accordance with the provisions of the 1940 Act and other applicable laws. The Board has established an audit committee and nominating committee to assist the Board in performing its oversight responsibilities.

The Company does not have a lead independent director. The Board has determined that the Board's leadership structure is appropriate in light of the characteristics and circumstances of the Company and the Fund, including the net assets of the Fund, the committee structure of the Company, and the management, distribution and other service arrangements of the Fund.

## **Board Oversight of Risk**

Through its direct oversight role, and indirectly through the audit committee, and Fund officers and service providers, the Board of Directors performs a risk oversight function for the Fund. To effectively perform its risk oversight function, the Board, among other things, performs the following activities: receives and reviews reports related to the performance and operations of the Fund; reviews and approves, as applicable, the compliance policies and procedures of the Company; approves the Fund's principal investment policies; meets with representatives of various service providers, including the Fund's investment adviser and the independent registered public accounting firm of the Fund, to review and discuss the activities of the Fund and to provide direction with respect thereto; and appoints a chief compliance officer of the Fund who oversees the implementation and testing of the Fund's compliance program and reports to the Board regarding compliance matters for the Fund and their service providers.

The Company has an audit committee consisting solely of independent directors. The audit committee plays a significant role in the risk oversight of the Fund as it meets annually with the auditors of the Fund and periodically with the Fund's chief compliance officer.

#### **Committees**

The Board of Directors has two committees, the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee. The members of both committees are comprised of directors who are not "interested persons." Currently, Jean P. Alexander, Melania Haynes, Lucille Mair and Ajatta Mediratta are the members of the Audit Committee and the Nominating Committee.

The function of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Fund's accounting and financial reporting policies and practices, to review the Fund's audited financial statements, to act as a liaison between the Board of Directors and the Fund's independent auditors and to recommend selection of an independent auditor to the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee held two (2) meetings during the fiscal year 2009.

The function of the Nominating Committee is to select and recommend candidates who are not "interested persons" of the Fund for election to the Board of Directors of the Fund. The Nominating Committee held no meetings during the fiscal year 2009. The Nominating Committee will meet only when necessary to select and recommend candidates who are not "interested persons" of the Fund for election to the Board of Directors of the Fund.

The Board of Directors has no other committees.

# **Compensation**

The Company pays each director \$500 per quarter, regardless of the number of board meetings held and/or attended. Directors also are reimbursed by the Company for any expenses incurred in connection with attendance at the meetings. The table below sets forth the compensation paid by the Fund to each of the directors of the Fund during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009:

## COMPENSATION TABLE

Name of Director	Aggregate Compensation From the Fund	Pension or Retirement Benefits Accrued As Part of Fund Expenses	Estimated Annual Benefits Upon Retirement	Total Compensation from Fund and Fund Complex Paid to Directors
Non-Interested Persons Jean P. Alexander	\$2,000	\$0	\$0	\$2,000
Melania Haynes	\$2,000	\$0 \$0	\$0 \$0	\$2,000
Lucille Mair	\$2,000	\$0	\$0	\$2,000
Ajatta Mediratta	\$2,000	\$0	\$0	\$2,000
Interested Persons Gayle Daniel-Worrell*	\$2,000	\$0	\$0	\$2,000
Marlon Holder*+	\$2,000	\$0	\$0	\$2,000

<sup>\*</sup> This person is an "interested person" of the Company as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act of 1940. This person is an officer of the Fund, the Fund's investment adviser, and/or the Fund's distributor, UTC Financial Services USA, Inc.

## **OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT**

The following table sets forth the dollar range of shares of the Fund beneficially owned by each director of the Fund as of December 31, 2009, which is also the valuation date:

Name of Director	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Fund	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities in All Funds Overseen or to be Overseen by Director in Family of Investment Companies
Non-Interested Persons		
Jean P. Alexander	[None]	[None]
Melania Haynes	[None]	[None]
Lucile Mair	[None]	[None]
Ajatta Mediratta	[None]	[None]
<b>Interested Persons</b>		
Gayle Daniel-Worrell*	[None]	[None]
Marlon Holder*+	[None]	[None]

<sup>+</sup> Marlon Holder resigned from the Board of Directors effective April 9, 2010.

The following table sets forth the shares of the Fund's investment adviser, principal underwriter or person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the investment adviser or principal underwriter of the Fund, beneficially owned by each director of the Fund and his or her Immediate Family Members (as defined in 26 U.S.C. § 152) as of March 31, 2010:

Name of Director	Name of Owners and Relationships to Director	Company	Title of Class	Value of Securities	Percent of Class
Non-Interested Persons		• •			
Jean P. Alexander	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]
Melania Haynes	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]
Lucile Mair	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]
Ajatta Mediratta	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]
<b>Interested Persons</b>					
Gayle Daniel- Worrell*	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]
Marlon Holder*+	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]	[None]

<sup>\*</sup> This person is an "interested person" of the Fund as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act of 1940. This person is an officer of the Fund, the Fund's investment adviser, and/or the Fund's distributor, UTC Financial Services USA, Inc.

<sup>\*</sup> This person is an "interested person" of the Fund as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act of 1940. This person is an officer of the Fund, the Fund's investment adviser, and/or the Fund's distributor, UTC Financial Services USA, Inc.

<sup>+</sup> Marlon Holder resigned from the Board of Directors effective April 9, 2010.

<sup>+</sup> Marlon Holder resigned from the Board of Directors effective April 9, 2010.

#### CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES

As of March 31, 2010, the current directors and officers of the Fund as a group owned none of the Fund's outstanding shares.

"Principal shareholders" are persons that beneficially or of record own 5% or more of the Fund's outstanding shares. A "control person" is one who owns beneficially or through controlled companies more than 25% of the voting securities of a company or acknowledges the existence of control. As of March 31, 2010, the following are the principal shareholders or control persons of the Fund:

Name and Address	Shares	% Ownership	Type of Ownership
Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Co.	2,497,598	69.63%	Record
UTC Financial Centre			
82 Independence Square			
Port of Spain			
Trinidad & Tobago, W.I.			

#### FUND MANAGER AND ADMINISTRATOR

# **Fund Manager**

Subject to supervision by the Board of Directors (the "Board"), investment management services are provided to the Fund by UTC Fund Services, Inc. (the "Manager") pursuant to an investment management agreement executed by the Fund on February 26, 2009, and effective March 1, 2009 ("Management Contract"). The Manager began managing the Fund's assets on March 1, 2009. Prior to that date, the Fund was managed by Earnest Partners, LLC.

The Manager is a Delaware limited liability company organized on December 8, 1997, and has been registered as an investment adviser with the SEC since February 26, 2009. The Manager is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation ("Unit Trust Corporation"), a quasi-governmental entity which was created by the Unit Trust Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago Act, 1981 (Republic of Trinidad and Tobago Act No. 26 of 1981). The principal executive office of Unit Trust Corporation is located at the same address as the Manager. The Fund is currently the only asset pool managed by the Manager. As of December 31, 2009, the Fund Manager's parent, Unit Trust Corporation, had approximately \$3.5 billion (U.S. dollars) in assets under management.

Under the Management Contract, the Manager provides a continuous investment program for the Fund and makes decisions and places orders to buy, sell or hold particular securities and futures. The Manager also supervises all matters relating to the operation of the Fund and provides clerical staff, office space, equipment and services. As compensation for its services, the Manager receives a monthly fee at an annual rate of 0.75 of 1% on first \$10 million, 0.50 of 1% on next \$10 million and 0.25 of 1% over \$20 million of the Fund's average daily net assets. The following table indicates the advisory fees that the Fund paid during the last three fiscal year ends:

Advisory Fees Paid to:

For Fiscal Year Ended:	UTC Fund Services, Inc.
December 31, 2009	\$117,394

Advisory Fees Paid to:

For Fiscal Year Ended:	Earnest Partners, LLC
December 31, 2009	\$36,669
December 31, 2008	\$95,956
December 31, 2007	\$111,808

Under the Management Contract, the Manager will not be liable to the Fund for any error of judgment by the Manager or any loss sustained by the Fund except in the case of a breach of fiduciary duty with respect to the receipt of compensation for services (in which case any award of damages will be limited as provided in the 1940 Act) or of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of duty.

The Management Contract shall be specifically approved at least annually (i) by a majority vote of the Independent Directors cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval, and (ii) by the Board or by vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund. The Management Contract will remain in effect until terminated by either party. The Management Contract is terminable by vote of the Board or by the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund at any time without penalty, on 30 days' written notice to the Manager. The Management Contract also may be terminated by the Manager on 30 days' written notice to the Fund. The Management Contract terminates automatically upon its assignment (as defined in the 1940 Act).

#### Portfolio Manager

The sole investment adviser to the Fund is the Manager. The portfolio managers to the Fund do not have responsibility for the day-to-day management of accounts other than the Fund.

The portfolio manager is compensated in various forms. The following table outlines the forms of compensation paid to the portfolio manager as of December 31, 2009.

Name of Portfolio Manager	Form of Compensation	Source of Compensation	(Including Any Differences in Method Between Account Types)
Sean Achong	Salary	Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation	Sean Achong receives a fixed monthly salary from the Corporation. The Corporation reviews the salaries of its entire staff intermittently and makes

salary from the Corporation. The Corporation reviews the salaries of its entire staff intermittently and makes adjustments based on the cost of living, the job scope and industry comparisons. His salary will not be based on the performance of the Fund or the value of the assets held in the Fund's portfolio.

Method Used to Determine Compensation

Pension Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation Bonus Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation

the plan. As part of Sean Achong's compensation, he may receive a discretionary bonus. Bonuses are based on the achievement of the strategic and financial objectives of the Corporation and the performance appraisals of its employees. The performance appraisals assess the fulfillment of financial, customer, process and learning goals set by the employees in collaboration with their supervisors at the start of the calendar year. The goals identified for Sean Achong may be linked

directly or indirectly to the performance of the Fund. The Board of Directors of the Corporation determines the amount of the

Sean Achong is required to contribute 5%

of his pre-tax salary in the Corporation's internally managed pension plan. Corporation matches his contribution in

bonus.

Salary Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation

Nicholas Chen receives a fixed monthly salary from the Corporation. Corporation reviews the salaries of its entire staff intermittently and makes adjustments based on the cost of living, the job scope and industry comparisons. His salary will not be based on the performance of the Fund or the value of the assets held in the Fund's portfolio.

Pension Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation

Nicholas Chen is required to contribute 5% of his pre-tax salary in the Corporation's internally managed pension plan. The Corporation matches his contribution in the plan.

Bonus Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation

As part of Nicholas Chen's compensation, he may receive a discretionary bonus. Bonuses are based on the achievement of the strategic and financial objectives of the performance Corporation and the appraisals of its employees. The performance appraisals assess the fulfillment of financial, customer, process and learning goals set by the employees in collaboration with their supervisors at the start of the calendar year. The goals identified for Nicholas Chen may be linked directly or indirectly to the performance of the Fund. The Board of Directors of the Corporation determines the amount of the bonus

Nicholas Chen

The dollar range of shares of the Fund beneficially owned by the portfolio manager is set forth below as of December 31, 2009:

	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Fund	
<u>Name</u>		
Sean Achong	None	
Nicholas Chen	None	

# **Administrator**

U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC (the "Administrator") located at 615 East Michigan Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 53202, serves as administrator to the Fund pursuant to an agreement with the Fund (the "Administrative Services Agreement"). Pursuant to the Administrative Services Agreement, subject to the overall authority of the Board of Directors in accordance with Maryland law, the Administrator assists in the Fund's administration and operation, including, but not limited to, the preparation of statistical and research data, data processing services, preparation of management reports for performance and compliance, as well as prepare and maintain the Fund's operating expense budget. Over the last three fiscal years, the Fund paid the following amounts in administrative fees:

#### Administrative Fees Paid to:

Fiscal Year Ended	U.S. Bancorp Fund, LLC
December 31, 2009	\$57,235
December 31, 2008	\$47,737
December 31, 2007	\$47,895

# Custodian

U.S. Bank N. A., 1555 N. River Center Drive, Suite 302, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 53212, serves as custodian for the Fund. As such, U.S. Bank holds all securities and cash of the Fund, delivers and receives payment for securities sold, receives and pays for securities purchased, collects income from investments and performs other duties, all as directed by officers of the Corporation. U.S. Bank does not exercise any supervisory function over the management of the Fund, the purchase and sale of securities or the payment of distributions to shareholders.

## **CODE OF ETHICS**

The Company and the Fund's distributor have adopted a joint code of ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act. Also, the Fund's Manager has adopted a code of ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act. The codes of ethics permit personnel subject thereto to invest in securities, including securities that may be purchased or held by the Fund. The codes of ethics prohibit, among other things, persons subject thereto from purchasing or selling securities if they know at the time of such purchase or sale that the security is being considered for purchase or sale by the Fund or is being purchased or sold by the Fund.

#### PROXY VOTING POLICY

The Fund votes proxies in accordance with the Manager's proxy voting policy. The Manager generally votes as management recommends with respect to corporate governance issues and compensation plans, and on social or corporate responsibility issues in a manner that the Manager believes will be most likely to increase the value of the security. In the event that a vote presents a

conflict of interest between the interests of the Fund and the Manager, the Manager will disclose the conflict to the Board of Directors and utilize the services of outside third party professionals (such as Institutional Shareholder Services) to assist the Manager with the voting based on the best interest of the Fund and its shareholders. In the event an outside third party professional is not available, the Manager will seek advice from the Board of Directors with respect to voting the securities. Information regarding how the Fund voted proxies relating to portfolio securities during the most recent 12-month period ended June 30, 2009 is available, without charge, upon request, by calling (800) 368-3322, and on the Securities and Exchange Commission's website at http://www.sec.gov.

## DISTRIBUTOR, DISTRIBUTION PLAN AND SERVICE FEES

#### **Distributor**

UTC Financial Services USA, Inc. (formerly known as Chaconia Financial Services, Inc.) (the "Distributor"), an affiliate of the Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation, is the distributor in the United States for shares of the Fund pursuant to a Distribution Agreement (the "Agreement") dated November 8, 2002, between the Company and the Distributor. The Agreement was re-approved by the Board of Directors on February 12, 2010. The Distributor is a broker-dealer and a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. since July 24, 2002. Shares of the Fund are offered on a continuous basis. The Agreement provides that the Distributor, as agent in connection with the distribution of shares of the Fund, will use its best efforts to distribute such shares. The Distributor's address is UTC Financial Services USA, Inc., c/o Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation, UTC Financial Centre, 82 Independence Square, Port-of-Spain, Trinidad.

## **Distribution Plan**

The Company has adopted a Distribution Plan applicable to the Fund under Section 12(b) and Rule 12b-1 of the 1940 Act. Pursuant to the Plan, registered broker-dealers and others ("Qualified Recipients") that have rendered distribution assistance (whether direct, administrative or both) and that enter into written agreements with the Fund may receive fees not to exceed 0.50% for the Fund. In addition, the Fund will purchase advertising, sales literature, other promotional material and marketing services. The Fund will pay the Distributor and Qualified Recipients, during a fiscal year of the Fund, an aggregate amount of 0.50 of 1% on an annual basis of the Fund's average daily net assets, paid quarterly, subject to compliance with guidelines adopted from time to time by the Board of Directors.

The aggregate amount paid by the Fund for the fiscal		
year ended December 31, 2009 were as follows:		
Gross 12b-1 Fees	\$158,127	
Advertising/Marketing	\$149,659	
Printing/Postage	\$8,468	

#### SHAREHOLDER SERVICING FEE

The Fund has entered into a General Service Agreement with The Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation pursuant to which the Unit Trust Corporation provides certain shareholder services and maintenance of shareholder accounts for the Fund's shareholders located in Trinidad and Tobago. As compensation for its services, the Unit Trust Corporation will receive a service fee of 0.25% of the Fund's average daily net assets, paid quarterly.

#### DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE

The net asset value (or price) per share of the Fund's shares will fluctuate and normally is determined as of the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange (the "Exchange") (currently 4 p.m. Eastern time) each business day. The Exchange annually announces the days on which it will not be open for trading. The most recent announcement indicates that it will not be, open on the following days: New Years Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. However, the Exchange may close on days not included in that announcement.

The net asset value (or price) per share is computed by dividing the total value of the securities held by the Fund plus any cash or other assets (including interest and dividends accrued but not yet received) minus all liabilities (including accrued expenses) by the total number of the Fund's shares outstanding at such time. The Fund values its assets based on their current market value when market quotations are readily available. If such value cannot be established, assets are valued at fair value as determined in good faith by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.

Securities for which the primary market is the National Association of Securities Dealer's Automated Quotation System ("NASDAQ") are valued at the NASDAQ Official Closing Price. Securities for which market quotations are not readily available are valued at fair market value as determined in good faith under procedures established by the Board of Directors. Short-term debt securities that mature in more than 60 days are valued at current market quotations. Short-term debt securities which mature in 60 days or less are valued at amortized cost if their term to maturity from the date of purchase was 60 days or less, or by amortizing their value on the 61st day prior to maturity, if their term to maturity from the date of purchase exceeded 60 days, unless the Board of Directors determines that such valuation does not represent fair value.

Following the calculation of security values in terms of currency in which the market quotation used is expressed ("local currency"), the valuing agent shall calculate these values in terms of United States dollars on the basis of the conversion of the local currencies (if other than U.S.) into United States dollars at the rates of exchange prevailing at the value time as determined by the valuing agent. The value of other property owned by the Fund shall be determined in a manner that, in the discretion of the valuing agent of the Fund, most fairly reflects fair market value of the property on such date.

Trading in securities on European securities exchanges and over-the-counter markets is normally completed well before the close of business on each business day in New York (i.e., a day on which the Exchange is open). In addition, European securities trading generally or in a particular country or countries may not take place on all business days in New York. Furthermore, trading takes place in various foreign markets on days which are not business days in New York and on which the Fund's net asset value is not calculated. The Fund calculates its net asset value per share and, therefore, effects sales, redemptions and repurchases of its shares, as of the close of the Exchange once on each day on which the Exchange is open. Such calculation does not take place contemporaneously with the determination of the prices of the majority of the portfolio securities used in such calculation. If events materially affecting the value of such securities occur between the time when their price is determined and the time when the Fund's net asset value is calculated, such securities will be valued at fair value as determined in good faith according to procedures adopted by the Board of Directors.

The net asset value per share is computed by dividing the value of the securities held by the Fund plus any cash or other assets (including interest and dividends accrued but not yet received) minus all liabilities (including accrued expenses) by the total number of interests in the Portfolio or Fund outstanding at such time, as shown below:

Net Assets = Net Asset Value per share
Shares Outstanding

#### PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The procedure for purchasing shares of the Fund is summarized in the prospectus under "How do You Purchase Shares of the Fund?" and the procedure for redemption of shares is summarized in the prospectus under "How do You Sell Shares of the Fund?" Investors may now elect to purchase shares through the continuing automatic investment plan as described in the prospectus.

The Fund will redeem shares solely in cash up to the lesser of \$250,000 or 1% of the net asset value during any 90-day period for any one shareholder. The Fund reserves the right to pay other redemptions, either total or partial, by a distribution in kind of readily marketable securities (instead of cash) from the Fund's portfolio. The securities distributed in such a distribution would be valued at the same amount as that assigned to them in calculating the net asset value for the shares being redeemed. If a shareholder receives a distribution in kind, he or she should expect to incur transaction costs when he or she converts the securities to cash.

#### PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS AND BROKERAGE

The Management Contract states that in connection with its duties to arrange for the purchase and the sale of securities and futures held in the portfolio of the Fund by placing purchase and sale orders for the Fund, the Manager shall select such registered broker-dealers ("brokers") as shall, in its judgment, achieve the policy of "best execution," i.e., prompt and efficient execution at the most favorable securities price. In making such selection, the Manager is authorized in the Management Contract to consider the reliability, integrity and financial condition of the brokers. The Manager is also authorized by the Management Contract to consider whether the brokers provide brokerage and/or research services to the Fund and/or other accounts of the Manager. The aggregate amount of brokerage commissions paid by the Fund during the fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007 were \$23,745, \$3,784 and \$3,761, respectively.

The Management Contract states that the commissions paid to brokers may be higher than other brokers would have charged if a good faith determination is made by the Manager that the commission is reasonable in relation to the services provided, viewed in terms of either that particular transaction on the Manager's overall responsibilities as to the accounts as to which it exercises investment discretion and that the Manager shall use its judgment in determining that the amount of commissions paid are reasonable in relation to the value of brokerage and research services provided and need not place or attempt to place a specific dollar value on such services or on the portion of commission rates reflecting such services. The Management Contract provides that to demonstrate that such determinations were in good faith, and to show the overall reasonableness of commissions paid, the Manager shall be prepared to show that commissions paid (i) were for purposes contemplated by the Management Contract; (ii) were for products or services which provide lawful and appropriate assistance to its decision making process; and (iii) were within a reasonable range as compared to the rates charged by brokers to other institutional investors as such rates may become known from available information.

The research services discussed above may be in written form or through direct contact with individuals and may include information as to particular companies and securities as well as market, economic or institutional areas and information assisting the Fund in the valuation of its investments. The

research that the Manager receives for brokerage commissions, whether or not useful to the Fund, may be useful to it in managing the accounts of its other advisory clients. Similarly, the research received for the commissions of such accounts may be useful to the Fund.

The debt securities which will be the principal component of the Fund's portfolio are generally traded on a "net" basis with dealers acting as principal for their own accounts without a stated commission, although the price of the security usually includes a profit to the dealer. Money market instruments usually trade on a "net" basis as well. On occasion, certain money market instruments may be purchased by the Fund directly from an issuer in which case no commissions or discounts are paid. In underwritten offerings, securities are purchased at a fixed price that includes an amount of compensation to the underwriter, generally referred to as the underwriter's concession or discount.

Brokerage commissions in Trinidad and Tobago, as in the U.S., are negotiable. Trinidad and Tobago brokers, which act as agent, and dealers, which act as principal, are subject to government regulation if they deal with public investors.

#### **DIVIDENDS, DISTRIBUTIONS AND TAXES**

# **Dividends and Distributions**

Each dividend and capital gains distribution, if any, declared by the Fund on its outstanding shares will, unless the shareholder elects otherwise, be paid on the payment date fixed by the Board of Directors in additional shares of the Fund having an aggregate net asset value as to the exdividend date of such dividend or distribution equal to the cash amount of such distribution. An election to receive dividends and distributions may be changed by notifying the Fund in writing at any time prior to the record date for a particular dividend or distribution. There are no sales or other charges in connection with the reinvestment of dividends and capital gains distributions. There is no fixed dividend rate, and there can be no assurance that the Fund will pay any dividends or realize any capital gains. However, the Fund currently intends to pay dividends and capital gains distributions, if any, on an annual basis.

#### **Taxes**

The Fund will endeavor to qualify annually for and elect tax treatment applicable to a regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, (the "Code"). The Fund has so qualified in each of its fiscal years. If the Fund fails to qualify as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M in any fiscal year, it will be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes. As such, the Fund would be required to pay income taxes on its net investment income and net realized capital gains, if any, at the rates generally applicable to corporations. Shareholders of the Fund would not be liable for income tax on the Fund's net investment income or net realized capital gains in their individual capacities if the Fund did not qualify as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M. Distributions to shareholders, whether from the Fund's net investment income or net realized capital gain, would be treated as taxable dividends to the extent of accumulated earnings and profits of the Fund. The Fund has net capital loss carryovers as follows:

**Net Capital loss carryovers** 

From Year	<u>Amount</u>	Expires Year
2002	\$ 413,844	2010
2003	\$ 244,113	2011
2004	\$ 1,112,247	2012
2008	\$ 569,758	2016

The Fund intends to distribute at least 90% of its net investment income and net capital gains each fiscal year. Dividends from the Fund's net investment income, including short-term capital gains, are taxable to shareholders as ordinary income (although a portion of such dividends may be taxable to investors at the lower rate applicable to dividend income), while distributions from the Fund's net realized long-term capital gains are taxable as long-term capital gains regardless of the shareholder's holding period for the shares. Such dividends and distributions are taxable to shareholders, whether received in cash or additional shares of the Fund. A portion of the income distributions of the Fund may be eligible for the 70% dividends-received deduction for domestic corporate shareholders.

Any dividend or capital gains distribution paid shortly after a purchase of shares of the Fund will have the effect of reducing the per share net asset value of such shares by the amount of the dividend or distribution. Furthermore, if the net asset value of the shares immediately after a dividend or distribution is less than the cost of such shares to the shareholder, the dividend or distribution will be taxable to the shareholder even though it results in a return of capital to him.

Redemptions of shares will generally result in a capital gain or loss for income tax purposes. Such capital gain or loss will be long term or short term, depending upon the holding period. However, if a loss is realized on shares held for six months or less, and the shareholder received a capital gain distribution during that period, then such loss is treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of the capital gain distribution received.

The Fund may be required to withhold Federal income tax at a rate of 28% ("backup withholding") from dividend payments and redemption proceeds if a shareholder does not provide a correct social security number or other tax identification number and does not certify under penalty of perjury that such number is correct and that he is not subject to backup withholding.

The Transfer Agent is required to send shareholders and the Internal Revenue Service an annual statement detailing federal tax information, including information about dividends and distributions (both taxable and tax-exempt) paid to shareholders during the preceding year. This statement should be kept as a permanent record. A fee may be charged for any duplicate information requested.

This section is not intended to be a complete discussion of present or proposed federal income tax laws and the effect of such laws on an investor. Investors may also be subject to state and local taxes. Investors are urged to consult with their respective advisers for a complete review of the tax ramifications of an investment in a Fund.

#### ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING PROGRAM

The Fund has established an Anti-Money Laundering Compliance Program (the "Program") as required by the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 ("USA PATRIOT Act"). To ensure compliance with this law, the Fund's Program provides for the development of internal practices,

procedures and controls, designation of anti-money laundering compliance officers, an ongoing training program and an independent audit function to determine the effectiveness of the Program.

Procedures to implement the Program include, but are not limited to, determining that the Fund's transfer agent has established proper anti-money laundering procedures, reporting suspicious and/or fraudulent activity and a complete and thorough review of all new opening account applications. The Fund will not transact business with any person or entity whose identity cannot be adequately verified under the provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act.

As a result of the Program, the Fund may be required to "freeze" the account of a shareholder if the shareholder appears to be involved in suspicious activity or if certain account information matches information on government lists of known terrorists or other suspicious persons, or the Fund may be required to transfer the account or proceeds of the account to a governmental agency.

## INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Fund's independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, audits the Fund's annual financial statements, reviews the Fund's federal income tax returns, and may perform other professional accounting, auditing, tax and related services when engaged to do so by the Fund. Shareholders will receive annual audited financial statements and semiannual unaudited financial statements.

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements for the Fund for the period January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009 are incorporated herein by reference from the Fund's Annual Report, as filed with the SEC on March 9, 2010. A copy of the Annual Report for the Fund may be obtained without charge by contacting the Fund at the address located on the front of this SAI or by calling 1-800-368-3322.

# APPENDIX DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS

Standard & Poor's Corporation ("Standard & Poor's") Debt Ratings. A Standard & Poor's corporate or municipal debt rating is a current opinion of the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific financial obligation. It takes into consideration the creditworthiness of guarantors, insurers or other forms of credit enhancement on the obligation.

The debt rating is not a recommendation to purchase, sell or hold a security, inasmuch as it does not comment as to market price or suitability for a particular investor.

The ratings are based on current information furnished by the issuer or obtained by Standard & Poor's from other sources it considers reliable. Standard & Poor's does not perform any audit in connection with any rating and may, on occasion, rely on unaudited financial information. The ratings may be changed, suspended or withdrawn as a result of changes in, or unavailability of, such information, or for other circumstances.

The ratings are based, in varying degrees, on the following considerations:

- I. Likelihood of default capacity and willingness of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on an obligation in accordance with the terms of the obligation;
- II. Nature of and provisions of the obligation;
- III. Protection afforded by, and relative position of the obligation in the event of bankruptcy, reorganization or other arrangement under the laws of bankruptcy and other laws affecting creditors' rights;

The issue ratings definitions are expressed in terms of default risk. As such they pertain to senior obligations of such entity. Junior obligations are typically rated lower than senior obligations, to reflect the lower priority in bankruptcy.

- AAA Debt rated AAA has the highest rating assigned by Standard & Poor's. Capacity to pay interest and repay principal is extremely strong.
- AA Debt rated AA has a very strong capacity to pay interest and repay principal and differs from the higher rated issues only in small degree.
- A Debt rated A has a strong capacity to pay interest and repay principal although it is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than debt in the higher rated categories.
- BBB Debt rated BBB has an adequate capacity to pay interest and repay principal. Whereas such debt normally exhibits adequate protection parameters, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity to pay interest and repay principal for debt in this category than in higher rated categories.
- BB, B, CCC, CC Debt rated BB, B, CCC or CC is regarded, on balance, as predominantly speculative with respect to capacity to pay interest and repay principal in accordance with

the terms of the obligation. BB indicates the lowest degree of speculation and CC the highest degree of speculation. While such debt will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these are outweighed by large uncertainties or major risk exposures to adverse conditions.

Plus (+) or Minus (-): The ratings from "AA" to "CCC" may be modified by the addition of a plus or minus sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories.

## Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") Bond Ratings.

Moody's ratings are opinions, not recommendations to buy or sell, and their accuracy is not guaranteed.

- Aaa Bonds which are rated Aaa are judged to be the best quality. They carry the smallest degree of investment risk and are generally referred to as "gilt edged." Interest payments are protected by a large, or by an exceptionally stable margin and principal is secure. While the various protective elements are likely to change, such changes as can be visualized are most unlikely to impair the fundamentally strong position of such issues.
- Aa Bonds which are Aa are judged to be of high quality by all standards. Together with the Aaa group they comprise what are generally known as high-grade bonds. They are rated lower than the best bonds because margins of protection may not be as large as in Aaa securities or fluctuation of protective elements may be of greater amplitude, or there may be other elements present which make the long-term risks appear somewhat larger than in Aaa securities.
- A Bonds which are rate A possess many favorable investment attributes and are to be considered as upper-medium grade obligations. Factors giving security to principal and interest are considered adequate, but elements may be present which suggest a susceptibility to impairment sometime in the future.
- Baa Bonds which are rated Baa are considered as medium-grade obligations (i.e., they are neither highly protected nor poorly secured). Interest payments and principal security appear adequate for the present but certain protective elements may be lacking or may be characteristically unreliable over any great length of time. Such bonds lack outstanding investment characteristics and in fact have speculative characteristics as well.
- Ba Bonds which are rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements; their future cannot be considered as well assured. Often the protection of interest and principal payments may be very moderate, and thereby not well safeguarded during both good and bad times over the future. Uncertainty of position characterizes bonds in this class.
- B Bonds which are rated B generally lack characteristics of the desirable investment. Assurance of interest and principal payments or of maintenance of other terms of the contract over any long period of time may be small.
- Caa Bonds which are rated Caa are of poor standing. Such issues may be in default or there may be present elements of danger with respect to principal or interest.
- Ca Bonds which are rated Ca represent obligations which are speculative in a high degree. Such issues are often in default or have other marked shortcomings.

Moody's applies numerical modifiers 1, 2 and 3 in each of the foregoing generic rating classifications. The modifier 1 indicates that the company ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates that the company ranks in the lower end of its generic rating category.

Standard & Poor's Commercial Paper Ratings. A Standard & Poor's commercial paper rating is a current assessment of the likelihood of timely payment of debt considered short-term in the relevant market. Ratings are graded into several categories, ranging from A-1 for the highest quality obligations to D for the lowest. These categories are as follows:

- A-1. This highest category indicates that the degree of safety regarding timely payment is strong. Those issuers determined to possess extremely strong safety characteristics are denoted with a plus sign (+) designation.
- A-2. Capacity for timely payment on issues with this designation is satisfactory. However the relative degree of safety is not as high as for issuers designated "A-1".
- A-3. Issues carrying this designation have adequate capacity for timely payment. They are, however, more vulnerable to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances than obligations carrying a higher designation.

Moody's Short-Term Debt Ratings. Moody's short-term debt ratings are opinions of the ability of issuers to repay punctually senior debt obligations which have an original maturity not exceeding one year. Obligations relying upon support mechanisms such as letters-of-credit and bonds of indemnity are excluded unless explicitly rated.

Moody's employs the following three designations, all judged to be investment grade, to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

Prime-1. Issuers rated Prime-1 (or supporting institutions) have a superior ability for repayment of senior short-term debt obligations. Prime-1 repayment ability will often be evidenced by many of the following characteristics:

- Leading market positions in well-established industries.
- High rates of return on funds employed.
- Conservative capitalization structure with moderate reliance on debt and ample asset protection.
- Broad margins in earnings coverage of fixed financial charges and high internal cash generation.
- Well-established access to a range of financial markets and assured sources of alternate liquidity.

Prime-2. Issuers rated Prime-2 (or supporting institutions) have a strong ability for repayment of senior short-term debt obligations. This will normally be evidenced by many of the characteristics cited above but to a lesser degree. Earnings trends and coverage ratios, while sound, may be more subject to variation. Capitalization characteristics, while still appropriate, may be more affected by external conditions. Ample alternate liquidity is maintained.

Prime-3. Issuers rated Prime-3 (or supporting institutions) have an acceptable ability for repayment of senior short-term obligations. The effect of industry characteristics and market compositions may be more pronounced. Variability in earnings and profitability may result in changes in

the level of debt protection measurements and may require relatively high financial leverage. Adequate alternate liquidity is maintained.

# **Description of Moody's Preferred Stock Ratings**

aaa: An issue which is rated aaa is considered to be a top-quality preferred stock. This rating indicates good asset protection and the least risk of dividend impairment within the universe of preferred stocks. aa: An issue which is rated aa is considered a high-grade preferred stock. This rating indicates that there is reasonable assurance that earnings and asset protection will remain relatively well maintained in the foreseeable future. a: An issue which is rated a is considered to be an upper medium grade preferred stock. While risks are judged to be somewhat greater than in the aaa and aa classifications, earnings and asset protection are nevertheless expected to be maintained at adequate levels. baa: An issue which is rated baa is considered to be medium grade, neither highly protected nor poorly secured. Earnings and asset protection appear adequate at present, but may be questionable over great length of time. ba: An issue which is rated ba is considered to have speculative elements and its future cannot be considered well assured. Earnings and asset protection may be very moderate and not well safeguarded during adverse periods. Uncertainty of position characterizes preferred stocks in this class. **b**: An issue which is rated b generally lacks the characteristics of a desirable investment. Assurance of dividend payments and maintenance of other terms of the issue over any long period of time may be small. caa: An issue which is rated caa is likely to be in arrears on dividend payments. This rating designation does not purport to indicate the future status of payment. ca: An issue which is rated ca is speculative in a high degree and is likely to be in arrears on dividends with the little likelihood of eventual payment. c: This is the lowest rated class of preferred or preference stock. Issues so rated can be regarded as having extremely poor prospects of ever attaining any real investment standing.

<u>Note</u>: Moody's may apply numerical modifiers 1, 2 and 3 in each rating classification from "aa" through "b" in its preferred stock rating system. The modifier 1 indicates that the security ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates that the issue ranks in the lower end of its generic rating category.

# Description of S&P's Preferred Stock Ratings

AAA: This is the highest rating that may be assigned by S&P's to a preferred stock issue and indicates an extremely strong capacity to pay the preferred stock obligations. AA: A preferred stock issue rated AA also qualifies as a high quality fixed income security. The capacity to pay preferred stock obligations is very strong, although not as overwhelming as for issues rated AAA. A: An issue rated A is backed by a sound capacity to pay the preferred stock obligations, although it is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effect of changes in circumstances and economic conditions. BBB: An issue rated BBB is regarded as backed by an adequate capacity to pay the preferred stock obligations. Whereas it normally exhibits adequate protection parameters, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity to make payments for a preferred stock in this category than for issues in the A category. BB, B, CCC: Preferred stock rated BB, B and CCC are regarded on balance as predominantly speculative with respect to the issuer's capacity to pay preferred stock obligations. BB indicates the lowest degree of speculation and CCC the highest degree of speculation. While such issues will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these are outweighed by large uncertainties or major risk exposures to adverse conditions. CC: The rating CC is reserved for a preferred stock in arrears on dividends or sinking Equity Fund payments but that is a nonpaying issue with the issuer in default on debt instruments.

**Plus (+) or Minus (-)**: The ratings from "AA" to "B" may be modified by the addition of a plus or minus sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories.